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>>Committee commenced at 8:58

Chairman (Mr. Savikataaqg): Good morning. |
would like to welcome everyone to our
hearing on the Official Languages Act and the
Inuit Protection Act.

To start off this beautiful day that has been
given to us, I’ll ask Mr. Anavilok if you could
open this in a prayer.

>>Prayer

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Anavilok. (interpretation ends) We will start
our hearing here. Just for the viewing
audience here, the Standing Committee on
Legislation’s televised hearing on the review
of the official language legislation. Today
we’re going to have the honour of having the
Francophone Association of Nunavut.
President Djalogue, if you can introduce your
officials, please, and proceed with opening
comments.

Mr. Djalogue: Thank you. Nakurmiik.
(interpretation) Good morning. Mr. Chairman
of the Standing Committee, Members of the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut, and to the
government officials, good morning. My
name is Goump Djalogue, and | am the
President of the Francophone Association of
Nunavut. Today, | am here with Mr. Francois
Oullette, the vice-chairman of the association
and Mr. Christian Osaka, the director of the
association.

Before | go any further, please allow me to
respectfully, and with humility, acknowledge
that we are in Inuit territory. 1 would like to
emphasize that this acknowledgement is not
simply a formality but rather it is made as a
sincere reflection that guides us on a daily
basis. We are very grateful for the welcome
that has been given to us here, on Inuit
territory. We acknowledge the generosity of
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Inuit on this generosity and this welcoming
spirit of diversity.

We would like to thank you for having given
us the opportunity to appear before you today,
in order to speak to you on behalf of the
association and present our recommendations.
We come here in a positive spirit to share with
you our recommendations about the
application and the implementation of the
Official Languages Act, as well as
recommendations and proposals to improve it.
Our presence here today testifies to the
importance that we attach to the Official
Languages Act as well as to the Inuit
Language Protection Act and the importance
that this represents for language diversity and
cultural diversity in this territory.

It also testifies to your commitment, our
elected officials, to work for language
promotion and as you know, section 37 of the
Official Languages Act, provides for a five-
year review of this Act and it is in this context
that we submit our observations and
recommendations today. | would like to
emphasize that this submission is the outcome
of exhaustive consultations with the
francophone community of Nunavut,
including with community organizations such
as the Association des Francophones du
Nunavut, the Carrefour Nunavut, the
francophone school board of Nunavut, the
early childhood centre called Les petits
Nanooks, the Uiviit theatre, and the French
health network in Nunavut, le Réseau de santé
en francais au Nunavut.

Ladies and gentlemen. We are pleased to see
that a review of the Official Languages Act is
finally taking place fifteen years after it was
passed in 2008. This Act represents the crucial
stage in the acknowledgement of the existence
and equal status of the three languages in
Nunavut. However, if one observes how it has
applied over the years, the AFN has identified
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some inconsistencies that could, in the
medium term, make the status of French in
Nunavut more vulnerable over time as an
official language.

In response to the Standing Committee of
Official Languages of the Legislative
Assembly’s request, the AFN is putting forth
recommendations including three essential
points. First, we recommend that language
clauses in any agreements between Canada
and the Nunavut Government be reviewed
and systematically included as well as those in
any government services. This is essential in
order to guarantee the respect and the
promotion of our official languages.

Second, we feel that regulations need to be
adopted, regulations under the Official
Languages Act, in order to ensure full follow-
up of its application. This is absolutely
necessary in order to make sure that the Act is
consistent and effective. Third, we would like
to emphasize the need to create a legislative
framework that would allow for a signed
agreement between the AFN and the Nunavut
Government. The purpose of this agreement
would be to provide for a single window for
services in French, which would guarantee the
provision of services and communications in
French, to Nunavummiut.

Allow me to go further into detail about what
we are proposing. With respect to the
preamble, we would like to express our
support to the clauses that acknowledge the
need to sustain and revitalize the Inuit
language that would guarantee that it would
be used in all facets of life in Nunavut. It is
undeniable that Inuktitut requires specific
support in order to be able to prosper and we
agree with this acknowledgement.

Now, if one were to follow the same logic, |
would like to emphasize the minority situation
of the French language in our territory. French
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is a minority language in Canada as well as in
Nunavut, and also requires revitalization and
promotion in order to ensure its survival.
Thus, we feel that the preamble also recognize
and state clearly that Inuktut and French
require supplementary support and
revitalization equally. In the preamble, there
iIs reference to the francophone community in
paragraph B. We would like to propose that
the community be identified as the franco-
Nunavummiut community.

This would more clearly reflect our
francophone community being an integral part
of Nunavut. We are above all, Nunavummiut.
Our specific characteristic is that we speak
French. We would like to see this amendment
recognized in the preamble. Furthermore, In
paragraph C, there is a reference to both the
Inuit community and the needs of the
francophone community in Nunavut. We
would like that term to be the franco-
Nunavummiut community. Moreover,
paragraph C recognizes that these two
communities are in great need of the resources
required to safeguard and strengthen their
cultural expression and their collective life.

The AFN believes that the Government of
Nunavut must consult with our association in
order to provide a framework for action to
achieve these goals. Such a framework is
currently lacking, and we will come back to
this. With respect to the quasi-constitutional
legal status of the Official Languages Act, we
support this principle as the recognition of the
three official languages of Nunavut as an
objective that must be above all other laws of
a general nature, and we unreservedly support
this objective.

The AFN supports the fact that the Act creates
the position of Minister of Languages
responsible for the promotion of official
languages in Nunavut. This is an important
political guarantee that must be maintained in
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the legislation, and it confirms the importance
of official languages in the Legislative
Assembly of Nunavut. The primacy of the
Official Languages Act is specifically
recognized in section 2.2.

Dear Members, as the legislation sets out,
everyone can use one of the three official
languages in the legislative Assembly. We
feel that there should be simultaneous
interpretation in French on a permanent basis
as well as translation that should be part of the
work of the legislative Assembly. Section 5
stipulates that the laws must be in French and
English and that a version in Inuktut is
possible. AFN supports this position but asks
that the laws be systematically translated into
each of Nunavut’s three official languages,
including Inuktut. This is absolutely essential
to ensure that there is equal access to the
legislation, and it also reflects the linguistic
and cultural diversity of our territory.

We firmly believe that it is important to
maintain these parts of the Act in order to
ensure the protection and the promotion of our
three official languages. Working together, we
can create a future where all languages in
Nunavut can prosper and co-exist
harmoniously. The same applies to section 7
of the Nunavut Gazette. Under section 6, there
are regulations to help implement the
provisions of the Act. However, it is
important to note that since 2008, no
regulations have been adopted. Instead, the
government has chosen to use policies,
guidelines, plans and directives for the
purposes of implementing the provisions of
the Act.

The use of these documents can be changed
more quickly. However, using them instead of
regulations makes the legislative framework
less transparent, and it also makes it more
difficult to hold elected representatives
accountable. We are aware that it is true the
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policies and guidelines are easier to change,
however, what happens is that there is less
consultation with the francophone community
and it is not necessarily as transparent.

We therefore suggest that it would be
preferrable to make regulations to ensure the
implementation of linguistic obligations.
Furthermore, we recommend that the power to
make regulations should extend to all
provisions of the Act, not just sections 4, 5,
11, and 12.

This would allow for more consistency in the
implementation of the Official Languages Act
and its application. We believe that the
adoption of regulations is absolutely essential
to ensure the full implementation of the Act
and to strengthen protection for our official
languages. This would strengthen
transparency, accountability, as well as
consultation with the communities; all crucial
elements in order to ensure the respect of our
commitment to languages in Nunavut.

Section 8 of the Official Languages Act is
crucial in order to ensure access to justice. It
acknowledges the ability of individuals to use
the official language of their choice before a
judicial or quasi-judicial body. This includes
the right to be able to speak in Inuktut,
English or French in civil litigation through an
interpreter and the right to be advised of their
rights.

Furthermore, when the issue at hand is of
public interest, there must also be
interpretation for the public in French and
English; simultaneous interpretation. We
recommend that the Official Languages Act
include the same provisions as the federal
Official Languages Act in order to ensure that
there is this trilingual aspect of quasi-judicial
and judicial bodies.
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Judicial organizations would have to have a
bilingual judge and this would have to do with
the judicial system, generally, and it would
not be necessarily dependent on one
individual. In other words, the judicial body
would have to be institutionally trilingual,
without neglecting the fact the judges can be
bilingual or trilingual.

We recognize that Nunavut does not have a
large number of bilingual judges. We must
ensure that Nunavut appoints bilingual and
trilingual judges on an as needed basis. These
bilingual judges could be called upon to sit on
bilingual civil cases, and this new obligation
would not be onerous because the criminal
code already guarantees to have a bilingual
judge and a bilingual prosecutor. The same is
true is under the Divorce Act. These bilingual
judges and bilingual prosecutors can be there
when there is a request from the accused for a
trial in French, and as stated, this already
exists in the federal Official Languages Act,
which says that every federal court, other than
the Supreme Court has the duty to ensure that
the parties can choose the official language of
their choice.

If there is a court action against the
Legislative Assembly or the Government of
Nunavut, we recommend that the government
would also have to plead in French if the other
party pleads in French or Inuktut. This would
be similar to section 18 of the federal Official
Languages Act, which includes similar
provisions for proceedings. Section 9 of the
Official Languages Act allows that any person
may request and receive a printed or audio
translation of the final version of a judicial or
quasi-judicial body.

This is absolutely essential to guarantee
access to equal rights, and it also guarantees
the status of languages in the judicial system.
This should not just have to depend on an
individual request. The final decision of
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courts plays a crucial role in its understanding
of access to official languages in the judicial
system. Therefore, any decision must
automatically be published in French, English,
and Inuktitut.

It would be appropriate to have specific
regulations or develop a policy for
publications in consultation with the
francophones of Nunavut for French, and
other parties involved. This would mean that
all services would be available in official
languages as soon as they are published and
this would provide for equal access to rights
and language in Nunavut.

The AFN supports the fact that section 10 of
the Official Languages Act allows judicial
bodies to adopt the court’s rules to ensure
respect for the official languages in judicial
and quasi-judicial bodies.

With respect to communications with the
public and provision of services, the AFN
fully supports the wording of section 11 of the
Official Languages Act that guarantees that all
signs be visible in all three official languages
and that this be fully visible and apparent.
This provision is absolutely essential because
it would guarantee active offer of services in
all territorial institutions, not only in one
central office.

However, the AFN would also like to
emphasize the importance of designating
bilingual and trilingual positions in order to
ensure that these signs truly reflect the
commitment to provide services and
communications in each of the three official
languages. This designation of positions is
absolutely crucial in order to make sure the
reality reflects the promise.

Furthermore, the AFN recommends an order
in these signs. We propose that Inuktut be on
the first line, followed by French and English
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on the third line. This would symbolize the
importance of Inuktut in our culture and
territory, and it would also reflect the
commitment on the part of the government to
revitalize minority languages.

Section 10 of the Official Languages Act
provides that members of the public have the
right to communicate with the head office or
central administration of the government in
the official language of their choice.
However, there are no regulations defining the
headquarters or central administration for
each department and each government entity.
This may already be defined in policies or
directives, but it is difficult to find these
policies and directives and it makes the
process less transparent.

In order to remedy this situation, it would be
preferable for these definitions to be
contained in regulations. Furthermore, it is
essential that the AFN be consulted before
such regulations are drafted, in order to ensure
that the needs of the francophones are taken in
to account.

Furthermore, there should be bilingual or
trilingual positions in each department and
agency in order to ensure good frontline
service in French. This designation would
ensure that quality services in French are
accessible at first point of contact, and it
would strengthen this commitment to equality
of status in official languages.

Under section 12(3) of the Official Languages
Act, the government has the obligation to
provide services and communications in
French and regional or local offices, only if
there is significant demand. This may be
based on the proportion of the population
served by the office, or the volume of
communications or services in French in the
past. There may also be an obligation to
provide services in French depending on the
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nature of the office because it takes into
account the importance of the services for the
health, safety, or protection of the public.

However, the AFN believes that it would be
important to adopt a regulation defining what
constitutes significant demand. This would
take into account factors such as the
proportion of the population served and the
volume of communications and services in the
past.

Furthermore, the purpose of an office must be
defined, of the office that requires services in
French. Using these regulations is essential in
guaranteeing transparency and consultation
for the francophone community. Without this
type of community participation, there is the
risk of missing an opportunity to truly reflect
the needs and the rights of all language
communities in Nunavut.

Ladies and gentlemen, section 12(5) of the
Official Languages Act allows for regulations
to be made where there is a particular concern
such as a high rate of assimilation. What this
means is that an office may be required to
provide services in languages that could
therefore support the revitalization of
indigenous languages. However, the AFN
notes that the assimilation rate is very high in
Nunavut.

Furthermore, it is absolutely essential to find
an alternative mechanism in order to ensure
that all government services are available in
French, regardless of their source, regardless
of whether they come from a central, regional,
or local office, which would not be dependent
on demand or purpose of that office. That is
why the AFN proposes that the Nunavut
government and the AFN sign an agreement
that would provide for a single window that
would provide services and communications
in French. What this means and what it
testifies too is that these services are lacking
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and it also reflects the fact that the franco-
Nunavummiut have been asking for this for
more than 20 years. Having this type of one-
stop shop would be a significant step towards
satisfying the needs of the francophone
community and which contributes to the
preservation and promotion of the French
language in Nunavut.

Nunavut currently has 37,000 individuals in
25 communities and there has been an
increase of about 1,000 individuals since
2016. In this time of technology, most
communications from the Nunavut
government are done electronically. In that
context, the AFN is proposing an innovative
solution. We want to be a part of the solution
and therefore, the AFN feels that there should

be this one-stop shop in Igaluit whose purpose

would be to provide services and
communications in French on behalf of the
Nunavut government from its headquarters.

This one-stop shop would provide information

and it would also provide orientation so that
citizens may be able to be directed towards
the appropriate site in order to find the
information that they require in French. The
public would also have the possibility to go in

person to this one-stop shop if they would like

to obtain services in French.

I would like to emphasize that these services
and communications could be provided in
French by a third party acting on behalf of the
Nunavut government. However, it is
important to note that the government
ultimately would be the one responsible and
accountable for providing services in French
to the public. This initiative would not mean
that the government is released from its
constitutional obligations and quasi-
constitutional obligations in terms of services
in French, but what it would do is provide for
a practical solution that would meet the needs
of the francophone population. This would be
a solution that would guarantee that French
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services would be long-lasting and stable in
Nunavut and it would meet the needs of our
francophone community and ensure a
sustainable preservation of our language and
our culture. Providing for this one-stop shop
between the AFN and the Nunavut
government could be included in a framework
in order to ensure that it will be long-lasting.

Under section 12(8), if there is a significant
demand for French within a municipality, the
municipality would be obliged to ensure that
the public can receive services and
communications from the municipality in
French. Doing that would require regulation.
To date, no regulations have been drafted for
this since 2008 and it is for that reason that
there is no obligation on the part of the
municipality to provide services and
communications in French.

Under section 24 of the Official Languages
Act, there must be an annual report from the
Languages Commissioner. However, a
reading of the annual reports leads to the
conclusion that there is very little information
in them. For example, the report for 2020-21
does not provide any details on the number
and type of applications and requests made
under the OLA and the Inuit Language
Protection Act, nor for the status of
applications or requests or their conclusion for
applications, or requests in progress during
the previous fiscal year, or information on
cases where recommendations made by the
Languages Commissioner following an
investigation were not followed. The AFN is
calling for the creation of a regulation under
the Official Languages Act that would set out
the content to be included in the
commissioner’s annual report and that would
present all of the commissioners work to
ensure respect for official languages.

With regard to the complaints, she receives
information on investigations, their nature,
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number, and the results or follow up carried
out. Section 25 deals with the secrecy and
disclosure of information of the
Commissioner of Languages and its nature.
Section 25.1 allows the Languages
Commissioner to establish rules, procedures,
and forms. The AFN is requesting that a
regulation set out the obligations of the
commissioner’s office to make these rules,
procedures, and forms public.

The AFN notes that under section 26, a person
may ask the commissioner to investigate
concerns about the use of French by a
territorial institution or municipality alleging a
breach of the Official Languages Act. The
AFN also notes that the commissioner, on
their own initiative, may conduct an
investigation if they believe that there has
been a violation of the Official Languages
Act. This is an important power in the AFN’s
view, and we support this provision. Section
28 allows the Languages Commissioner to
refuse to open an investigation or to terminate
an investigation for a number of reasons. We
also support this provision.

The AFN notes section 29, which requires the
commissioner to file a notice with the
Minister, territorial institution, or municipality
affected before initiating an investigation. It
can also consult the entity that is subject to
that request for an investigation if possible to
resolve the concerns raised. The AFN agrees
that the Act gives the Languages
Commissioner the power to open a formal
investigation. We will support any
amendment that will better define the powers
to settle a complaint, rather than take it to
court. The AFN proposes that a regulation be
developed in this regard.

Section 30 provides for the resolution of
concerns without an inquiry. The
commissioner may use mediation and any
other means consistent with Inuit principles.
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The AFN believes that the commissioner’s
report should provide full information on the
number of cases resolved through other
means.

The AFN supports the provisions of section
31 of the Official Languages Act. The
commissioner may enter and inspect premises
occupied by a territorial or municipal
institution and may also interview employees
and request to examine information and
documents. This ensures that the
commissioner can obtain the information
necessary for a proper investigation. The
commissioner can even compel a person to
appear to testify under oath and to file an
affidavit. They can also compel a person to
disclose documents, see section 31(2).

Section 31(3) also grants the commissioner
the same powers and duties as a court in civil
matters with respect to entering premises,
interviewing employees, ensuring the
disclosure of relevant documents, and
compelling persons to appear before them or
to give evidence under oath. According to the
association, these powers are important to
ensure a rigorous investigation.

Section 32 obliges the commissioner to
submit a recent report following an
investigation and to send it to the persons
concerned. The commissioner may make
recommendations and may also ask the
territorial institution or the municipality to
inform them within a period, set by the
commissioner, of the measures taken or
planned to follow up on the commissioner’s
recommendations, and if no measures have
been taken or planned, the reasons for not
following up on the commissioner’s
recommendations.

Furthermore, as suggested by the new federal
Official Languages Act, we believe that the
commissioner should have financial penalty
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powers. In our view, this would give the body
in question an opportunity and an incentive to
correct the shortcomings of the application of
the Official Languages Act. If the territorial
institution does not comply with the
commissioner’s recommendations, the
commissioner may submit the report with the
recommendations to the Speaker of the
Legislative Assembly as set out in section
32(1). This approach puts political pressure on
the offending entity.

Section 33 requires that the commissioner
keep the person who filed the complaint or
requested an investigation informed and we
support that provision. Under section 35, a
person who has requested an investigation by
the Languages Commissioner to apply to the
Nunavut Court of Justice, it allows them to
apply to the Court of Justice for such remedy
as the commissioner considers appropriate in
the circumstances. This can be done if the
commissioner has refused to initiate an
investigation or has terminated an
investigation.

They may also file an ongoing application if
more than six months have elapsed since the
application was made and they have not
received a finding. We support that provision
because it obliges the commissioner to deal
seriously with the request for an inquiry
within six months. According to our
association, it is acceptable to impose time
limits for filing an application with the
Nunavut Court of Justice to enforce the
Official Languages Act. Undue delays must be
avoided. We therefore support that provision.

Section 36 also allows the Languages
Commissioner to apply to the Court of Justice
for a remedy to ensure compliance with the
Official Languages Act. The commissioner
may do this on their own initiative, or with the
consent of the applicant. The commissioner
may also obtain leave of the court to appear as
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a party in proceedings brought by an
individual, though the commissioner may also
apply for leave to intervene in proceedings
brought by an individual, and as stated, the
commissioner may also apply for leave to
intervene in those proceedings.

In our view, it is very important for the
commissioner to be able to apply to the court
for redress themselves. All to often, the laws
leave the burden on the complainant, we
therefore support that provision. On the other
hand, AFN recommends that a regulation be
created to govern the complaints process
received by the commissioner, and the use of
their powers to determine the nature of the
complaints, the follow-up, and the
conclusions.

The association supports section 37, which
requires a five-year review of the Official
Languages Act. There is a need to review the
provisions and operations of the Official
Languages Act, as well as any other
legislation, policies, guidelines, plans, or
directives that legislative assembly or any of
its committees may specify. Unfortunately, the
association has not been able to find all these
documents on the government website.

Without being able to obtain all of these
documents, it is difficult for us to assess and
comment on the application and
implementation of the Official Languages Act.
It is also difficult to comment on the
effectiveness of the provisions of the Official
Languages Act in terms of whether the Act
has achieved its objectives. Reading these
documents may lead to further
recommendations from the AFN.

Section 38 provides for the making of
regulations, and the duty to consult before
making a regulation. According to the AFN’s
research, no regulations have been made in
relation to the Official Languages Act. 1t
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should be noted that there is obligatory
consultation with the francophone community
before adopting regulations, and this
guarantees better accountability and
transparency.

Dear Members, above and beyond the
proposals that we have presented, the
association would like to put forward
additional proposals for solutions to crucial
issues when it comes to the sustainability and
vitality of the francophone community. First
of all, we recommend that the Nunavut
Government consider adopting regulations
that would create a francophone immigration
policy, even though immigration falls under
federal jurisdiction, some provinces like
Quebec have shared jurisdiction when it
comes to immigration.

Our association proposes that the Nunavut
government use the francophone immigration
policy brought forward by the Federation of
the Francophone and Acadian communities in
order to develop its policy in that spirit. By
2030, we would like to see that there would
be 20 percent of the immigration to Nunavut
made up of francophones. This would
contribute substantially to strengthening our
community, and it would also ensure its
sustainability.

Furthermore, we believe that a regulation
should be adopted that would systematically
guarantee language clauses in all agreements
between Canada and the Nunavut
government. These language clauses would
apply to all services in Nunavut, and it would
ensure that the francophone community
benefits in all sectors. For example, if Canada
were to transfer funds for early childhood
programs. The language clause would ensure
that part of those funds would go to the
franco-Nunavummiut community, which
would guarantee its access to essential
services.
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We would also like to put forward our
priorities that would strengthen the presence
of French in this territory, in particular, in key
sectors of education and health. We
recommend that the Government of Nunavut
give priority to first language francophone
education. Education is a key sector for
revitalizing and transmitting Franco-Canadian
culture in Nunavut. Therefore, we propose
that the Nunavut government support the
development and funding of French education
at all levels throughout life, from early
childhood to adulthood and beyond.

The 2021 census shows that there are about
530 children who are eligible for instruction
of the French minority language in Nunavut.
It is therefore urgent that Nunavut provide the
necessary resources to the francophone
community and stakeholders working in
education.

Furthermore, we also propose that Nunavut
give priority to the development and
expansion of French language daycare
centres, because that is where French
language education begins for our youth.

With respect to the French language health
sector, we feel that it is crucial that there be
designated bilingual or trilingual positions in
the hospital and in the medical clinic in
Iqaluit, as well as in other Nunavut
communities. French speaking Nunavummiut,
who so wish, must have access to a doctor
who speaks French, and this will guarantee
equal status and equal access to medical needs
in our community. We would also say that this
would promote and sustain our language and
our culture.

In conclusion, we would like to propose
another last measure that will promote and
celebrate the franco-Nunavummiut
community. We recommend that the
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Government of Nunavut adopt a regulation in
order to have a symbolic day dedicated to the
Franco-Nunavummiut, a day that would be
dedicated to the Franco-Nunavummiut, a day
that would be dedicated to the
acknowledgement and celebration of our
culture and our language. This day would be
an opportunity to showcase the contribution
of Franco-Nunavummiut in our territory and
our society generally.

It would also serve to raise awareness
amongst the public of the rich cultural
heritage of our community. Furthermore, we
would like to propose that the Nunavut
government officially recognize a symbolic
franco-Nunavummiut flag that is a symbol of
our identity and our pride. Recognizing the
Franco-Nunavummiut would be a way to
reinforce our feeling of belonging, and it
would also testify to the commitment on the
part of the Nunavut government to preserving
and promoting the French language and
culture in our territory.

In doing so, the Nunavut government would
be expressing its unwavering support for the
francophone community, and it would
strengthen the ties that unite us all as Franco-
Nunavummiut.

Dear colleagues. On behalf of the association,
I would like to express our sincere gratitude to
the legislative assembly for having asked us to
submit our proposals to amend the Official
Languages Act. This is rather an opportunity
to closely review how the official languages
are applied, implemented, how effective its
provisions are, and whether or not its
objectives have been reached. However, it is
essential to underscore the fact that in order to
be able to undertake this assessment, the
association must have access to the policies,
guidelines, implementation plans, and
directives under the Official Languages Act.
Access to these documents is essential in
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order to be able to fully understand how the
Act is being applied and to identify areas that
require improvement. We are convinced that
this transparency will only strengthen our
ability to fully collaborate with the
Government of Nunavut in order to fully
protect and promote official languages within
our communities.

Thank you very much for your attention
today.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I’1l just make a short
statement here.

For future reference, it is our protocol that
copies of your opening comments be provided
to Members of the Committee in a manner
that enables them to follow along. This is
especially important if your opening
comments are different from your submission,
which they are in this case. (interpretation)
It’s regretful that the opening comments were
not provided in Inuktut and English to
Members of the Committee.

I now open the floor for general comments, as
we will get into questions later. | now open
the floor for general comments. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good morning. | would like to thank the
witnesses for appearing before the Committee
today and I would also like to thank you for
your efforts in reviewing the Official
Languages Act and the Inuit Language
Protection Act and providing your detailed
comments and recommendations.

I would also like to thank you for providing
detailed opening comments. That is a great
benefit to those watching the proceedings
today who have not had an opportunity to
read your submission. | just wanted to thank
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you and highlight those key areas. You have
put forward a number of interesting
recommendations and | look forward to our
deliberations today. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Does
anyone else have general comments? | have
no more names on my list for general
comments, so | now open the floor for
questions. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ve got a number of questions today, but I'll
just start off with a few and allow other
Members some time to ask questions as well.

Before we get into any specific details of your
submission, | would like to ask if you would
be able to provide us with a brief overview of
some of the most significant language issues
facing the francophone community in
Nunavut. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, petit Adam Lightstone, for your
question.

Just a quick note that during this question
period, it will go between francais, our vice-
president, me, and occasionally our executive
director, Christian Osaka, will be responding
to the questions.

As for your question regarding... . I’ll speak
in French as I’'m more at ease in French.
(interpretation) So if | understood your
question properly, it is with regard to the
some of the challenges that francophones
might encounter here concerning
implementation of the French language here
in Nunavut.
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In this regard, what franco-Nunavummiut tell
us within the association is that essentially,
the challenges they face when they requiring
essential services, like when they go to the
hospital, for example, or require services at a
health centre, when they are unable to access
a doctor or a nurse who is able to provide
services in their first language, we know that
at times when we are facing health challenges,
we need to understand the information that is
provided to us by the health care provider in
our language, and to able to understand
clearly the information. When there is a
language barrier and we don’t properly
understand, it adds another layer of stress to
our health issue, which at times may create
undue difficulties.

Also, with regard to other services, similarly
in a general way, if communication is not in
French and therefore the francophones who
have difficulty understanding information, or
even at times, accessing information when
such information is only conveyed in English,
it is problematic.

There are several examples like this. There
are also services such as daycare. We are
happy to say we are in the process of being
able to provide access francophone daycare
services, with more spaces for daycare
services and early childhood service providers
tell us though they might not be enough spots
available for new clients, they are saying the
centres are growing, and that growth will
continue this year and the coming years.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Djalogue, for your response.
The first issue that you had highlighted is the
need to receive medical care in a language
that the patient can understand. | absolutely
agree with that statement. However, in your
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opening remarks you had highlighted a
number of francophone organizations in the
territory and one of them that | was unfamiliar
with was the Franco-Nunavut Health
Network, if I recall that name correctly.

I was wondering if you would be able to
further elaborate on what this organization is
and what they do. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Yes, thank you so much.
(interpretation) Thank you. The health
network of Nunavut is a community
organization that is active in promoting health
services in French in Nunavut. This network
works in collaboration with the Minister of
Health to support undertakings aimed at
providing health care services in French in
hospitals. They bring francophone interns
here to do their internship at the hospital and
this is to encourage them to practise here as
doctors in Nunavut so they can offer their
services here. This is a network.

Francois is drawing my attention to another
aspect that they bring interns to our schools as
well with services within the provision of
support to special needs children and the
interns offer those types of services as well.
They work with partners throughout this
network that is also a national network. The
Nunavut branch works with the national
network within their work that aims at
promoting the services.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Djalogue, for that very
interesting response. Like I had previously
mentioned, | was not aware of the Franco-
Nunavut health network, but as you indicated,
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the work that that organization does in
bringing recent graduates in the medical field
to come and practise their residency here in-
territory with the goal of having those doctors
sign on and stay on long term, I think that’s a
great benefit for all Nunavummiut. | just
wanted to thank you for that.

I guess I’ll move on to my next line of
questioning. In a few areas in your
submission, you indicate that no regulations
have been adopted since the Act was passed
in 2008 and instead, the use of policies,
guidelines, and directives has been utilized.
You also note that rather than this approach of
using these alternatives, rather than
regulations, makes the legislative framework
less transparent and makes it more difficult to
hold elected representatives responsible or
accountable.

I was wondering if you would be able to
elaborate a bit further on that area and if you
would be able to give specific examples of
where policies, guidelines, and directives have
been utilized as opposed to regulations. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Lightstone. In
general, from a legislative viewpoint,
regulations support Acts to ensure their
tangible application. In the Official
Languages Act, it is said that the regulations
are to be adopted to ensure that the law is
enacted.

What happens is that when there are no
regulations, given that regulations require
consultations with communities and lead to a
more transparent process within the
application of the legislation and for its usage.
Let’s say that this clarifies the test that the law
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is submitted to within the daily usage, but
when we’re talking about guidelines or
internal memos, when there are no guidelines,
we see that there is no transparency when one
is to rely only on departmental guidelines.

The general population is not aware of these
types of guidelines because they circulate
only within the civil service and are not
accessible to the citizens at large. Therefore,
we recommend in line with the legislative
requirement to uphold regulation, such as the
posting in three languages, the ones pertaining
communications or displays in three
languages. | have no tangible example of
guidelines here at hand, but we could
certainly follow up to give you tangible
guidelines that might have been used instead
of broader guidelines as required per the Act
itself.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following my list of names, Mr. Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to just follow up with Mr.
Lightstone’s question regarding the
regulations. When we were speaking to the
Languages Commissioner yesterday, one of
the questions that | had asked her was, as in
the Official Languages Act in section 28, like
Mr. Lightstone mentioned, it provides that
regulations may be made with respect to the
implementation of the Official Languages Act.
I was wondering if maybe you could describe
some priorities that the Government of
Nunavut should be focusing on when they do
the first round of regulation drafting. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation) Thank you. In our submission,
we underscored certain regulations, but we do
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understand that not all can be done at the
same time. We need to prioritize certain
regulations. For us, the priority should be
some language clauses that deal with
territorial transfers. There are regulations that
are in line with the application.

This deals with all governmental
communications with the public and also
communications with municipalities that there
be clear regulations so that these
communications are made accessible in all
three languages, that there be a framework to
ensure this. An example that | gave was one
that dealt with postings and signage, but this
is also within the scope of access to justice in
all three official languages. | would say that
among all, maybe these would be a priority.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. For
the Inuit Language Protection Act, in section
44, it provides the same support to provide
implementation regulations for the Inuit
Language Protection Act. I’1l ask the same
question: when it comes to drafting of the
regulations, what should the Government of
Nunavut focus on as priorities? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Yes, thank
you. (interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation) With regard to this,
we have noted the prerogative of the
Languages Commissioner that would
certainly underscore a regulation that would
confer more powers while putting this power
in a clear framework. I have alluded to a
regulation for community service provision
and of... . (interpretation ends) My apologies.
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(interpretation) Mainly, on this exact point,
we believe that there should be regulations
that support the Office of the Languages
Commissioner’s power to ensure the
provision of services in languages in French
and Inuktut, and that to ensure the community
services are provided in those languages
within the scope of the promotion and
revitalization of those languages. There
should be a provision and support to revitalize
further, these languages.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In the
comments in the submission regarding the
preamble to the Official Languages Act, it was
indicated that a framework for action to
achieve the goals of the legislation itself is
lacking. | was wondering if one of the
witnesses can provide some examples of what
is felt that some of the components of such a
framework could be. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Yes, thank
you. (interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Hickes. In the
preamble, we noted a few things. We did note
the necessity... . 'm just conferring with my
vice-president.

(interpretation) My apologies once again. We
had some difficulties in finding this point in
the preamble. These are a few points that we
have underscored.

For us, it is essential that it be stated clearly in
the preamble that franco-Nunavummiut or a
minority community and that the French
language is also a minority language that
requires revitalizing and this is the case for us
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here and it is the same reality federally. The
French language is being used less because
there is an issue of assimilation and we
require the same measures as is set for
Inuktitut because French also is in a situation
where it requires revitalization. We believe
that if the legislation mentions this, it would
ensure that the legislation takes that into
account because this is quite important.

Also, we have indicated the need to reinforce
collaboration with the association. We believe
it is important for us to be able to support the
government in applying the legislation and
with these essential elements in the
legislation, we will ensure a better
collaboration with the franco-Nunavummiut.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. On page 6 of the
submission, the concept of a one-stop shop or
single window of providing services and
communications in the French language is
addressed with some detail under 10.2 of the
submission. | was wondering if the witness
can elaborate further on what measures would
need to be in place to ensure government
accountability for the delivery of services and
communications if a separate francophone
entity assumes the responsibility for frontline
service delivery en frangais. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Yes, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Hickes. This is
part of our solution for what pertains to the
details as to the implementation of this point. |
believe that we ought to work together but we
are to see that in communities that are in the
position of being in a minority, we see that it
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is important, not to be always in the position
of presenting complaints, rather we would
think that we should bring about solutions,
and that is taking into account, the skills we
have and the ability to provide services in
French to our franco-Nunavummiut
community. We believe that these
francophones would be key partners in the
provision of services, in French, to franco-
Nunavummiut.

We Dbelieve that there should be a framework,
an understanding, so the government
recognizes the association as a spokesperson

or the partner in service provision in Nunavut.

We recognize that the government and all
public institutions might have a difficulty in
accessing resources among those human
resources in the provision of services, but as
far as the French language is concerned, we
believe that we have some skills and assets
that enable us to support the provision of
these services and we believe that the
government can lean on us to share these
skills or offering of services and, of course,
respecting the legislation and being
accountable. Of course, there is a legal
framework that could be set, but we are of the
belief that we could be part of the solution
rather than being of those that would only
complain.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. On
page 7 in part 11 of the submission, it
addressed the concept of significant demand.
In the federal context, significant demand is
most often determined by demographic
context or the size of the language-speaking
population. Yesterday, | had some questions
for the Commissioner of Languages on the
fact that the federal legislation has not yet
provided a description or parameters of
significant demand and neither has Nunavut’s
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legislation. Either of these Acts do reference it
but again, it doesn’t define it.

When I look at different communities, Igaluit
was an example that was used yesterday; there
is a French school here, there is a French
daycare, the Association des Francophones du
Nunavut is very active in the community, yet
you go to smaller communities and there may
be two or three francophones in the
community. When you are looking at defining
significant demand in the provision of
services, my question is: what is the
description that you would like to see or
recommendations to the government on
defining significant demand? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Hickes, for this question.
Francois, would you want to answer?

Chairman: Mr. Frangois [Oullette].
(interpretation) Thank you. Mr. Osaka.

Mr. Osaka (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. With regard to the question with
significant demand, well, it is true that this
important presence is more here, but there are
other communities where you would have a
francophone presence. We do not aim here at
targeting all 25 communities in the territory.
We are talking about communities where you
have more demand in Cambridge Bay or even
here in lgaluit where there could be a central
office that would support other communities.
This is more of you.

As per the question asked to the
commissioner, indeed, there is no clear
definition that would allude to significant
demand. Usually we might look at 5 percent,
but we could certainly look at our reality here
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in Nunavut and determine what is the
percentage that we can all agree upon and that
would allow us to say that there is a
significant demand after such a threshold.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank you for that response. Also on page 7,
the submission notes that section 12(8) of the
Official Languages Act provides that
municipalities would be obligated to provide
communications and services in an official
language if there was significant demand.
There’s that term again. Has the Association
des francophones du Nunavut had any
discussion or agreements with any
municipalities and specifically with the City
of lgaluit to address the provision of
communications and services en Francois?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Hickes. (interpretation) Since
I was in this position, we haven’t done this.
We had cooperation on other topics, but |
haven’t found a specific request for
communications in French that would have
been submitted to the City of Iqgaluit or
whether discussions have happened, but we
will continue in this line. It’s a good point.

We will submit those requests to have better
cooperation with the City of Igaluit because
there is a larger number of francophones in
Igaluit. We will do it and we believe that
through regulations, these items will be
further clarified and it will enable us to better
consult our community on the specific issue
of French communications, but to date, we
had a generic consultation.
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However, on the specific issue, once
regulations are available, we will have a
further consultation with our community, for
example, what would be the percentage to
define significant demand for services in
French. We will have a more detailed
consultation to establish this level.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | will now use my
discretion as the Chairman to take a 10-
minute break.

>>Committee recessed at 10:34 and resumed
at 10:58

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Our
meeting will now resume. Following my list
of names, Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Welcome.

I have a question on page 3. You note that
section 4 of the Official Languages Act, and
I’1l say this in English, (interpretation ends)
provides that everyone has the right to use any
official language in the debates and other
proceedings of the Legislative Assembly. You
stated that your organization “believes that
MLAs should use French when making
presentations to the Legislative Assembly.” If
the law were amended to require MLAs to use
French in the Legislative Assembly, then they
would lose their right to speak whichever
official language they prefer. Why do you feel
that MLAs should not have the right to speak
the language of their choice during their
work? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Thank you Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Malliki. (interpretation)
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Thank you for the question. It’s a rather
symbolic question. It’s not an obligation that
we are asking for. We do recognize that it’s
not reasonable to ask that of every MLA,

It is along the same line when we are asking
for recognition of our flag, or a special day.
We would be very proud and very happy if
some MLASs could say a few words in French.
It would make us very, very happy, but
sincerely, this is not at all an obligation for the
MLAs to speak French, not at all. Everyone is
free to speak the language of his or her
choice, and ideally, in his or her first
language. It’s a rather symbolic issue, it’s not
at all an obligation to speak French.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, I
would just like a clarification, if you don’t
mind, because in the submission, AFN
believes that ML As should, it’s not may, it’s
not could, should use French when making a
presentation to the legislative assembly. Can
you clarify whether your views are the same
as the submission? Mr. Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you. It’s
a mistake in the English translation. What we
said in the French version is that our intent is
not at all to make it an obligation. We will
correct and clarify this point in our
submission, so we’ll correct the submission in
this paragraph. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. This
1s now clearly understood. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. In terms of using the Official
Languages Act, the three official languages in
Nunavut are Inuktitut, English, and French.
(interpretation ends) Do you feel that this
should be a priority for all laws passed by the
legislative assembly in the future?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Merci. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Malliki.
(interpretation) I had a problem with my
earphones and I didn’t get your question. 'm
sorry. Could you repeat it, please?

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, can
you ensure you rephrase your question so he
understands? Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. My apologies. (interpretation ends)
On page 3 in your submission in the section
on “Laws” of your submission, you ask that
the laws of Nunavut be translated into each of
Nunavut’s three official languages. Do you
feel that this should be a priority for all laws
passed by the Legislative Assembly in the
future? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman and Mr. Malliki. Indeed, we do
believe that the three official languages must,
they’re all on the same footing. There is no
priority for one language, so laws and
regulations must always be translated in the
three languages or must be made available to
the pubic in the three official languages.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the response. On
page 3, section 6 (interpretation ends) of the
Official Languages Act provides that the
Speaker may make regulations to ensure that
the Legislative Assembly is compliant with
specific sections of the legislation. Can you
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clarify why you feel that this section needs to
be amended? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. This item 6 in the Nunavut
Gagzette... . Thank you for the question.
Indeed, what the AFN is proposing, or would
prefer is that regulations be adopted to ensure
implementation on language obligations
rather than using guidelines or policies, which
are issued at the administrative level. When
regulations are implemented at the legislative
level, they include consultation with the
community.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) On page 4 and
5, your submission includes a discussion on
the “Administration of Justice” and the
requirement for a bilingual judge in the case
of litigation in the French language. Can you
elaborate further on how the federal Official
Languages Act addresses this issue and why
you feel it could be a model for amending
Nunavut’s language legislation?
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,

Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Malliki. Thank
you for your question. For the administration
of justice, the federal legislation stipulates that
the judicial system itself at the federal level, is
bilingual French and English, but at the
territorial level, we are asking for the three
official languages to be used. The service
should always be available in the three official
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languages of Nunavut, but this doesn’t mean
that judges must speak French, Inuktitut, and
English, no, but the system, the administration
must be trilingual.

So the system must be as such that if an
individual makes a choice to have a procedure
in Inuktitut, the administration of justice will
have to do everything to ensure that the
individual is served in Inuktitut.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Next
name on my list is Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I would like to ask a question, first
of all, perhaps your reason for coming here.
The submission about the three official
languages in Nunavut, and I have some
questions about it. In the past years, what you
talked about in the beginning of your
presentation here, you stated that French has
been put at risk because of the language
legislation, and that’s why I’m asking this
question to you. What exactly do you mean?
Can you explain more clearly so that we will
understand it better? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation) Thank you, Madame. To
answer this question more efficiently, I’1l
speak in English. For several French speakers,
if we have access to services in French, but if
the services are not available, we won’t use
the language, and eventually, we will lose the
language. If you don’t use it, you’ll lose it.

I went to take my driving test for a
motorcycle. I studied in French, but the test
was in English, so [ was somewhat surprised
to have to take the test in English, but the
most important point in this regard, is that
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there is a risk, especially for the youth, who
come to the territory, and maybe they speak
French at school. They come from mixed
families, and slowly but surely, English
becomes the language of use, like everywhere
in the community.

To encourage the use of the French language,
we need regulations and Acts that are really
implemented, and this is by the means of
regulations so that the language is used.
Currently, the use of the French language is
compromised because we don’t have a
standardized implementation of the Act to
ensure that French in Nunavut are served in
the French language. Merci. Qujannamiik.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank our witness for
explaining the reasoning behind this, and your
commentary makes sense and is clearly
understandable. This too, applies to me as an
Inuk, living in my homeland where 1 was
born, and having grown to adulthood and
English was the only language of service,
regardless if I wanted service at our school,
our health centre and even at the stores.

These are never amenable to any unilingual
person, especially for those with only a single
language like English. In having grown to
adulthood, I have experienced the issues you
were speaking to, especially being served in a
language other than your own, irrespective if
your sole language is Inuktitut, French and
English who all expect services.

They need representation, and although this is
a difficult situation, even with the present
situation we find ourselves in, initiatives are
developed from ideas we express. Now,
although this may be a barrier, would the fact
that this would require higher funding, and
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due to the additional resources needed, this
third language recognized here in Nunavut is
embedded in the Official Languages Act, there
will need to be additional funds to hire
additional employees, including the need for
trilingual linguists.

Currently, we do not have many residents who
are fluent in these three official languages,
and it may require more training for our
employees to acquire those language
fluencies. Not very many staff have that
capability.

So, how do you figure, or have you heard or
asked questions if more funding can be made
available to do that? We always face
challenges in funding our current operations
and maintenance funding. That’s my question:
have you looked to see if you could get proper
financing to do that in Inuit Nunangat.
Funding set aside for languages in Nunavut
are usually limited. Hopefully, my question
came through clearly, so that is my question.
Has any review been commenced for that?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue: (interpretation): We work
regularly with our partners at Heritage
Canada, one of our partners, and every time
we are asking for a budget, because we are
aware of the costs that would be involved to
ensure the revitalization and respect of our
language. We are asking for constant support
from the Government of Canada, and we do
believe that with a stronger Act, as it is the
case, we know that the Government of
Canada committed in this regard with this
new federal legislation on official languages
and the fund for revitalization of native
languages.
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We always stress this thing, correct? Of
Nunavut, the budgets that are granted
elsewhere don’t apply here. We need more,
and transfers from the federal government to
the Government of Nunavut should respect or
take into consideration our needs in order to
revitalize official languages here. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. There are some tasks ahead and
some things to be considered. I would then
like to move on to another subject. We have
the Inuktitut language, English and French as
the official languages. Maybe I'll take a step
backwards for a minute.

Looking at the official languages, and looking
at the whole of Nunavut, and looking at the
percentages of English, Inuktitut, or French
speakers, I believe it was 85% Inuit, and then
there’s the English sector and the French
sector, and that’s how I see it in my mind’s
eye. Why is it that? You might have a longer
vision, but we’re looking at years ahead when
it comes to languages and the Inuktitut
language.

It’s very nice to have different languages
being spoken in a community. We look at the
signage outside, around the community and
inside the buildings and on the buildings, and
especially on the roads. We look at the three
official languages being used on the signage
all over town. Are you looking at the French
language being second because of your small
population, and are you looking at putting the
English on top of the signage, or how do you
see the order of those three languages? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.
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Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you.

What we would like to say, apologies from the

interpreter. Thank you. Okay, better now?
There seems to be interference.

Chairman: We are having technical
difficulties. The technician is walking here.
Let’s try again. Mr. Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you Mr.

Chairman.

Chairman: We will just take a five-minute
break to try to figure out our technical
difficulties.

>>Committee recessed at 11:22 and resumed
at 11:29

Chairman: Good morning again, Members
and officials. 1 would like to call the
Committee meeting back to order. Hopefully
all the technical difficulties are gone and I'll
go back to Mr. Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,

Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Ms. Killiktee. | am

going back to the question pertaining to the
order of the signage. As we proposed in our
submission, | had said that our proposal was
that first, we would have Inuktitut, then
French and in third, we would have English.
The logic being to underscore the necessity to
revitalize these languages, underscoring
languages that really need revitalizing, but
then we would like to say that it is first
Inuktitut. We need to focus on this language.
The signage would therefore show Inuktitut
first, following that would be French, and the
language that requires no attention would be
the third language in this signage. This is to
symbolize the government’s commitment to
promote and to revitalize languages that need
this undertaking.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.

Chairman. I also thank you for that
clarification. We understand where you’re
coming from. We expect when we have an
opportunity to speak about the Acts we are
dealing with.

I want to change direction to a question that
was asked earlier. The question was related to
the Acts that have been enacted related to the
official languages and the requirement to
recognize these languages. The Acts that have
been created or new legislation or
amendments, which one do you see as a
complete change or addition to the Acts?
Hopefully I’'m understandable.

(interpretation ends) My colleague earlier
asked his question, asking about the laws of
Nunavut be translated into each of Nunavut’s
official languages. The question was: do you
feel that this should be a priority for all laws
passed by the Legislative Assembly in the
future? Adding to that, my question that I’'m
trying to say is: are you aiming at only new
laws that were passed or are you asking for
all, like old and new? (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Ms. Killiktee. Ms.
Killiktee, indeed, this proposal is within the
framework of the review to be provided to the
legislation. When we talk about review, it’s
aiming for the future application of the law,
but we are all in agreement here that all the
legislation should be accessible to all citizens
in all three languages of the territory and
amongst those, Inuktitut, of course. It could
be for reasons of resources that the Inuktitut
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was not viewed as essential, but we believe
that all three languages have to be reflected in
all legislation. Of course, we would say that if
such a thing could be done, taking into
account previous legislation, we believe that
would be very important as all citizens of
Nunavut would be more aware of the laws
that are important to our daily lives here.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for clarifying your
response. To another area. On page 6, in
English, (interpretation ends) in section 10.2
of your submission, you stated that according
to L'Association des francophones du
Nunavut, the rate of assimilation is very high
in Nunavut. Can you clarify what you mean
by this comment? Also, to add in how you see
it and why this is important. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue:

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Ms. Killiktee. This is a
very good question. | would ask my
colleague, Mr. Francois Oullette to answer
this. Francois did allude to a certain story.

What we are told often is that our youth find
themselves in a position where the
environment leads them to abandon the
French language and speak or us the English
language more frequently. This happens to us
adults. When we often go to services and we
realize that the offer in the French language is
unavailable, one tends to switch immediately
to English and express oneself in this
language, which leads to assimilation. This is
seen also in francophone families when you
see siblings playing together, they start
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playing together in English because in all
other contexts/, they are led to believe that
this is the only language they can live their
lives in.

In all other environments, they cannot see
access to French language in their daily lives.
At times, they don’t have the opportunity to
express themselves in French. These are all
the reasons why, throughout time, these
young people abandon the French language.
The same happens to adults. It is due to the
fact that they are unable to express themselves
in this language or they are unable to access
services in the French language and therefore
tend to switch to the English language.
Francois.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Oullette.

Mr. Oullette: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Madam Killiktee. Thank you, Mr.
Djalogue. One of the points that is really
important is that when you are a minority and
arguably here, even in Nunavut, the majority
of Inuit have to make this choice too. Your
language is a choice, right? All the services
are, especially in a city like Igaluit, offered in
English and the expectation is, yes, everybody
understands English and we’re just going to
go along with that. It becomes a choice to
speak in a language other than English. That
choice is more than simply communication, it
is also identity.

I come from New Brunswick, and | was a
minority all my life. | visited Quebec once in
a while. I’'m not from Quebec. Every day, I
had to choose to speak French, so if you
create a situation where speaking French is
not attractive, not valued, and not recognized,
you will choose other languages. That is
clearly what happens with some youth. It’s
also, in a wider sense to with the community,
if again, you don’t use your language in
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various contexts, your language becomes
impoverished, whether it be professional,
personally, and in all regards, so there is that.

The rate of assimilation goes beyond this
conversation. It is also very logistical. Apart
from Iqaluit, there is pretty much no French
language services elsewhere or a francophone
community that is well developed in other
Nunavut communities. We are aware of
francophones being present in other
communities. There too, as a francophone in a
smaller community, you are put in a situation
where to be francophone, it is an uphill
struggle for yourself and probably for your
family.

There is also the fact that for, and | cannot
speak for Inuit that | have known who speak
French or francophone Inuit. They often have
to choose between one language over the
next. The rate of assimilation there means
there would be a loss of one aspect of their
culture as well, so I think the idea here is to
ensure that we provide Nunavummiut of any
language, the opportunity to find their place in
the territory by speaking their language
according to the three choices that we have.
Qujannamiik.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) If I can just remind all
the participants here, both those asking the
questions and those answering the questions,
to be brief. This is not to be disrespectful, but
the clock doesn’t stop. Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you for
the reminder, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for
your response. | feel what you are going
through, trying to use my language in the
house and that my language is my base and
my strength in Inuktitut. I totally don’t know
all of the Inuktitut language but the loss of
language and recovery of language, |
understand, and | feel where you are coming
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from. I know Inuit going through this struggle
as well. I know there are others that want to
ask, so my last question is (interpretation
ends) L'Association des Francophones du
Nunavut supports the power of Languages
Commissioners in conducting investigations.
Do you feel that the commissioner’s power is
strong enough or should the Act be amended
to enhance those powers? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Indeed, we
have underscored that we support the
Commissioner of Official Languages power.
The amendment that we support here is her
ability to sanction, monetarily, when there is
no compliance with the legislation. This is
following an investigation she might have
carried out, so that measures be taken to
correct and when the measures are not upheld,
that she be in a position to have monetary
fines or other financial measures. We are of
the opinion that this is an important measure
to support the powers invested in her and we
would also say that there should be a
regulation set so that the content of the
Official Languages Commissioner’s report be
made public, so that we could know what are
the different investigations she carried out and
what have been the conclusions so that we can
be more informed. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quqgiag.

Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
One of the three key issues mentioned in your
submission is the establishment of a one-stop
shop for French language services. Can you
elaborate further on what is it that this one-
stop-shop service would include and how you
envision it operating? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. That
question was answered but if you could just
elaborate a little bit more on it, Mr. Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. What
we are saying here is that the one-stop service
would be a partnership between our
association and the Government of Nunavut,
because our association has some expertise in
delivering services in French. It is a solution-
oriented strategy that we are proposing. We
want to help the government to provide
services in French. As | said, the legal
framework is a more technical issue. We’ll
have to define the operational aspect through
more legislative work and co-operation.

Those services could include translation
services, orientation towards French services,
and access to information in French. We
could offer those services, and the purpose is
to improve the daily life of French-speaking
Nunavummiut.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quqgiag.

Mr. Quqgqiag: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. On
page 12 of your submission, you suggested
that the francophone community identified in
the preamble of the Official Languages Act.
You referred to and I quote, “Les franco-
Nunavummiut,” and I quote again, “Les
franco-nunavoix,” end quote. Can you clarify
how this term was developed and how you
feel it should be used? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. We mentioned it and answered

A/ RWPCSe: 'a. C dabdob.

da.d\ob OLANJO): sdyeal™ SbALY. Sdraed
CANbhse Act?eob. <I<SaSheCseIL o<

AT o <> CNLACNHONE. CALAPb SN 5
sdyeal by CRo LR oG

Pa DLy NbceIY 5 D> CNASb®I/ .
CL%a Sdvaeds. Sd»*al™® SbAGCS Y >

Cd DL, Sdy*al®.

AP/<PCS®: 'a. DBPINIA*QC AdoedSLC.
Cbdd dASeATSIC PPdAST<IcGed. Cbd<
LcLeDSeNE QASeASo<SLC Ced<d AAS
Db/ 0¢ CAJYCP®N .0 bOLA*N® oF,
Coa /< Ut dNsdNeb LceoNe, MC
Sgp<Ise,

sdp<se (ONNNJO): Sdyeal™, Ab/RDCSe,
ORNMNJPGeI%) PR, A% *LI%® SdP]se
QY LeP<desN CoS<N<ot, dus<Ir
PLLSDAN™L. Sbe5aNDC D>SbLo<SL.

OLNANJC®I%®) Ac*LE CR bNLNGEC
AcCAANSHEC®CYC SPIPA>LEC, 0a DT
SPrPaDLCC Labo<ilLYo®. as>Nct 43(2)
dCo, ADAC DbPA* gt N> CNg5JC
ASYSRIST, SPISPsbeCn<bGeC Codd
ATed* PN <bSL*LC S é\Pd*MC, ADAC
D>b>Y*NC CAJYcDSeNbdC,

AA®INL Ao ASNKSPIACNIP QP AL
Ac_bd*Ma A <SHeIPLLALPDY e 4\?
Sgheql, Ab/RPCS®,

Ab/PCSe: 'q. [ CNe,

Che: sgbeql® C*a <do A/LPYLLEN,
Db Pv<C A, Que € Codo™L bNLA>SHN® o,
ALLSb AbSCD>c . cPC LRLbI® of
ADGSeRD>®DC Code oSeb*LIA>a ®DJE.
PP<o bNLAD>SbNEL Cbdd <tL>

A%ba AFPNdH><>C CAPIL Ja. P 2RedLCAS,

ASITPY<SLY CL®a. AoAS ASdP*LE. a*ose
A>cLEONe Acd allose BPIPL= NP
DSbA*a Se/LLLC ARNNHd D**LaSo®
ADHBNN* 0 C*a dLno<SeNd,
AP<PNNo SN .

47



briefly to a similar question, but Frangois will | CAL CL*a. ANNN=5Jd apesnOg

elaborate. QPSbNNCYLSbECHPLILJCCD® DRUC
CAJ/cD>PNd>ab bNLAD-SC. P/,
Chairman (interpretation): Mr. Oullette. AL n b oC JARYNM DI D Clta

APLLENJ C<5ee CALDc DN
Mr. QOullette: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. To | AcPcD>®Nod <L Ac A%y AP

explain briefly, franco-nunavoix is how we AW DPCZ D PPN od. CAL**LoP

refer to people who speak French here in APL® o0 AFLPZLLENY

Nunavut. That term was developed a while PE>rnc DA odo.

back and there were debates on whether or not _

that is appropriate because how would you BRNSE DO DEC INctlnbdC

distinguish someone from Nunavut versus NJ7Bo > Pa PPI™ POo°PI™ BRN*0®

Nunavik. Right? Nunavutoix would be more | 2-07<n-PLC Af)( AHQU‘C'”%&L’ :Dq—’d-
correct linguistically speaking, but a lot of AdoJN7be PG<Ce A%a N0

franco-Nunavummiut here don’t like that term | CA*Lo°b*a™®. DRUJCH® /_\qu'qcc
because they are used to the old one CAPINIS ATLTD ACHLIS™ b oI 5C

A6 Acd?*Lo® Ao DbDr/*Lo® CLedo™L
D oM>ceI%® Do Sbo% C*JLLN* < HC
AFLcDSHeC®DJC, C*a. P>oPbd,
DRNJPLIC Ao IS **N<<C, Nl

o <c®N*adTLbd.

There was a significant debate that was
actually created by Radio Canada by posting
something on Facebook a couple of years
back and everybody in the community was up
in arms about it. Finally we just said that we
are Nunavummiut first, so we recognize the
language here, just like we say “Igalungmiut,”
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of it means oui oui, because we often say
‘yes,” which is very accurate. But again, the
term ‘Uiviit’ is more kind of like generic,
whereas Nunavummiut make the point of
being here in Nunavut. The term ‘Uiviit’
would be just as applicable elsewhere in Inuit
Nunangat, right? It could be used in
Greenland if there are any francophones there,
I don’t know. Also, there are other terms that
we heard being used to refer to francophones
in Nunavut. | think it is Pond Inlet that they
use a term, | forget what it is Inuktitut, but the
word seagull. Francophones are very loud,
and we sound like seagulls, so | heard they
use the Inuktitut term for francophones is that
term for seagull.

Uiviit is very interesting, and we like it. We
will use it but officially, franco-Nunavummiut
we deemed as most appropriate. Qujannamiik.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Thanks for the smile. Mr. Quqgiag.

Mr. Quqgiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This will be my last question to allow my
colleagues to ask questions too. Page 9, with
respect to post-investigative procedures as
provided for under sections 32 and 32.1 of the
Official Languages Act. Your submission
recommends that the commissioner be given
the power to impose financial penalties. Can
you elaborate further on why you feel that
financial penalties would help to enforce
compliance with the Act? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. That is my last question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. |
know Mr. Djalogue elaborated on this in
another question earlier, but if you can just
clarify your position. Mr. Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for your question. What
we are saying is that no organizations want to
be imposed upon with another financial
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burden. We have tight budgets, so we think
that an additional financial penalty would
have the same thing as included in the new
Official Languages Act at the federal level.
This idea of fines for non-compliance would
be a strong incentive for individuals to
comply with the law, especially those who
don’t follow recommendations made by the
commissioner, so that the commissioner has
the power to impose finds in order to support
compliance and to get the organization to
make the changes required. If the fines are
more expensive, then the changes that are
required, I’m pretty sure, will be introduced.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) For the sake of the time
there, 1 will allow one last question before we
will break the hearing and closing comments
have been done. Mr. Arreak, one...sorry, Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
On page 12 of the submission under section
26, the very first paragraph indicates that
Nunavut should consider adopting a
regulation to create a francophone
immigration policy and, by 2030, aim to have
20 percent of immigration to Nunavut as
francophone. | was wondering if you would
be able to elaborate further on these
comments. | found that to be very intriguing.
I’m not very familiar with Nunavut’s current
immigration statistics and | was wondering if
you’ve had an opportunity to take a look at
that. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Lightstone, for
your question. The Government of Nunavut
doesn’t have its own immigration policy, so
no statistics are available on numbers of
immigrants. This proposal is part of a national
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framework. The roadmap for the Canadian
Francophone Association has published
figures for immigration to Canada in order to
support the francophone immigration in
Canada.

In this proposal, if 100 immigrants are coming
to Canada, 20 must be francophones to adjust
or to readjust the demographic balance. We
are asking that the same ratio that has been
decided at the federal level by the
francophone association also be included in
the territorial immigration policy. Once the
Government of Nunavut is ready to issue an
immigration policy, we would like this ratio
to be implemented. If 100 immigrants come to
Nunavut, 20 should be francophones. That’s
what we meant in our submission.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) | would like to thank
everyone for their interest and engagement in
the hearing that we had this morning. It has
been very fruitful and a lot of exchanges of
information.

I’ll just invite Mr. Djalogue, if you have
closing comments. Mr. Djalogue.

Mr. Djalogue (interpretation): Very briefly, |
want to express our thanks to you, Mr.
Chairman, and to all MLAs and Members of
the Committee for giving us this opportunity
to present our recommendations.

We are sorry for our opening comments that
were not translated, but we will send the
English translation very quickly.

Thank you very much again for your welcome
and for welcoming us here to your Assembly.
It’s greatly appreciated. Thank you very
much.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will break for lunch
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now and we will be back at 1:30 for the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit. Everyone
have a good lunch.

>>Committee recessed at 11:59 and resumed
at 13:32

Chairman (interpretation): Welcome,
everyone in Nunavut that’s watching and
listening. We will start with the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliuqtiit, whose
chairperson I believe is Ms. Thompson. You
can commence with your opening comments,
and introduce your fellow witnesses, and the
opening comments are in front of the
Members. Ms. Thompson.

Ms. Thompson, so you’ll be aware, when the
little light goes on, it means you’re on TV and
you’re ready to talk, so the audio video
technicians will know where to point the
camera to, and please finish your comments
with thanks, so they can follow the speakers.
Ms. Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, thank
you. My hearing device is not very
comfortable. Hold on. I cannot hear the
interpretation. Yes, this ear device hurts.

Chairman (interpretation): People watching
and listening in Nunavut, please just wait a
moment.

Okay, we are ready to proceed. I would ask
the Chairperson of the Inuit Uqausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit. Ms. Thompson, you can start
with your opening comments.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes. Can you
hear me? Thank you. We are extremely
grateful for this invitation to this hearing,
albeit [ am unsure how I should proceed since
I am a bit confused with the process.
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Now that we are attending this hearing as
members of the Inuit Ugausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit, as 1 was not publicly
speaking of the issues, but today with the
opening provided, I am overjoyed to present
my report.

Yes, I would like to welcome you all, and we
appreciate the warm welcome we received,
and I am currently the Chairperson of the
Inuit Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit, and it
almost seemed it was at a standstill due to the
lack of employees to assist us as elders,
although we are very committed to this
mandate, and we are the holders of our
cultural knowledge, both the Inuit language
and Inuit culture.

Both of us here both grew up out on the land,
and our board members, Mary Kanayok
Voisey, will probably join us later. Our fellow
board member as well, Salomonie Pootoogoo,
had to go to Kinngait. They are dealing with
ice terminology for that area, so he’s at the
community compiling the terminology for that
subject. He was going to be part of this group.

For a while, we did not have any staff at all.
Our staff would just quit. Our coordinators
and (interpretation ends) executive directors
(interpretation) would quit, and we’ve never
been able to hire a competent financial
administrator. It was not on purpose. Our
group was seemingly stuck at a crossroad,
standing still and we could not even hold
proper meetings.

We would discuss these issues during our
telephone conferences, although we were
chomping at the bit to start working, but due
to our inability to do administration work, and
our lack of knowledge in working with
computers and software to input the data
required for our terminological work in our
roles.
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Nevertheless, we are quite knowledgeable
about Inuit culture. We are real Inuit, but
apparently, we need Qallunaat to help us, and
we understand more about administrative
work due to our lack of administrative
abilities as board members. We are all aged
elders, as most of us are over 70 years of age.

Also, we are very appreciative to see this
work commencing again, and our
expectations are soaring once more. We now
have an executive director, Rebecca
Qulittalik, sitting behind us, who is now our
(interpretation ends) executive director
(interpretation), can you please rise?

>>Applause

We also have our finance person here as well,
Maggie.

>>Applause

We are slowly standing as a body with Inuit
employees, and I am quite ecstatic over these
events. [ am absolutely overjoyed,
flabbergasted even. The Inuit language is once
again the top priority for our group. Another
factor is that we will commit to working to the
best of our ability as we are the ones holding
the mandate of knowing Inuit culture
intimately.

Now, our organization is well respected and
known throughout our land, as we try to
create different initiatives, either through
radio or other avenues to speak about Inuit
language issues, and to keep propping up our
language publicly.

We’ve heard about the governments and
federal governments. They both thought that
our language would die when I first became a
board member, but I believe it is rising. Inuit
language and culture is rising again, and
we’ve never had this many Inuit on our board
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before. I am very proud of that. We use our
authority, and we will work hard using our
authority.

My name is Mary Thompson, I’'m from
Arviat. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. I open
the floor to Committee Members if they have
any comments. I’ll open it for questions in a
little while. Mr. Malliki.

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I just wanted to further welcome
the elders here to their House. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’m very happy today and I wish to
welcome them. One of my original
constituents has succeeded in attaining that
position, Rebecca Qulittalik and I wanted to
voice my pride in her accomplishment.

They also have hired a financial administrator,
and we know that this body will start to rise
once more, and I wanted to voice my pride in
them today. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I am very happy to see you
here at the House, and it is good to see our
representatives. It is hard when Inuit
themselves give up trying to speak, and this is
regretful.

Nonetheless, this is why it is good to see
competent workers now working for your
organization, both financial and managerial
positions are filled, so I am grateful to see that

>abbc< o, Cbdd, DR N*LaIILC
C22% DLt dASINSbPLE S,

Cd/Ly*a® Cbdd /2 P>NILYT oS’ ADAC
D>b>P Mgt CAJ/DPNE, CAbo
<SaANY D LANT<eC/eab Db LLC
q5GJ*Lo- 2016-2019-1€ QL5 C=>*L 2018-T¢
2019-_I¢ Q5GJ*Pegb CPRo GJI. Cbdao
ALLADNCMoSeleot Ldd NM><a
bNLSbNSbbCasM® <tL_5> DNM>LYAC AoNDC
Db *o Nt A LN SbSa e s PR HeGC
CAJIC C2*L SBGNDYSIC AcDebC> 5N
<L CL*a AcnSbNsbsose GpsbNsbigse
Cbda *LE LRLPI*GDT® ASd/cnAbd>a.

CLbd< Cd“HNe QL LRLAI® o <raesNedC,
Ld<d <*o<SbSa **NDcnrbds,

A®B®IANC AP, DLISo<INeJC,

H4\Lc DYoo= oaceo. CLbdd

CAJYAY 0> Acnost Cbd<d

Q@ AQDATQ®INC, Sb_oA®L oYL eCShSL L5,
ARSI R PR H5eGC Ao/ % _5®?
A*PSGNPLSbseb, DShD>IAN®CSh<
DNPr@ eI HeaC PR Heg<
AbI®CP®L A LbSa? SboAC*UL*L5%®
AAND*L, Ab/RPC®, sgyeal™.

Ab/PCSe: 'q. [ CNe,

CLhe: sgbeql™®, DRI S Dabbe DGL
OSbb%YL 2P ALCDJC bNLANJC,
>b>YA T PCSC CL%a. C*a

P DNBCDILI® CR PYYRUD%®
QSGJYCLse/D>NAC Davbe,
PN PP LLOC® o0

ASba ALSPNSHE*PLIC, DSh>IA*a ®CG H<DC
OSbD>NCDSYLENCDC A% PNJC, PRI
Dsbsb>LL LRLE D> <P*LNJE NNebNJC
SoLCDYNJC <INGEC. AbNSeCP>LA<Sb c.nbDJC
NNHNJC SoACPLNJC GSOPeAANT,

D>SbPcC CALPL O, DSbA*a e<bIJC Pa. Cbd
Arn<dc? <5GJC /CLE doJS*LC Coa
QGICLE Acnc<d*L*LC NNSAAcD>LLOE,
CeR (o LRLPIC AP <P Lot DG LI,
AbIseI®Y| LDC Coq. CAL®a PY<a Palyl®
Do DG o<GEC LRLPIC D> <YL
Lctod. LaNdeNd <INGEC A%a Aa P> 5C

55




your organization will become visible once
more. [ am very glad to see you here and
thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. I
believe that’s it for general comments. I will
open the floor for questions. The Members
will be asking questions to the /nuit
Uqausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit board
members. The first person on my list is Mr.
Quqgiagq.

Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation) I am Inagayuk, the MLA for
the Netsilik region, for both Taloyoak and
Kugaaruk, and for clarity I will ask my
question in English.

(interpretation ends) One of the key
requirements of our committee’s work to
review Nunavut’s language legislation, under
section 43(2) of the Inuit Language Protection
Act is to review whether or not administrative
independence is necessary for the work of the
Inuit Uqausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit.

My question is: can you clearly explain why
you feel that administrative independence is
necessary for your work? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you.
We have been thinking about that for a long
time, and I still am, as are my fellow board
members. Perhaps, at the time, when we get
real support from the government, maybe we
should get more help from the government
because we’re at a standstill, but, my fellow
board members and our staff, Jonah Kilabuk
and them, they believe and they’re very proud
of about the Inuit culture and believe that it
can run; they want to try and keep it running it
on their own, and they keep saying that.
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We need to be welcoming to our fellow Inuit,
and that is our foundation where we will start
things. There are many times where those of
us on the board of the Inuit Ugausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit don’t agree on certain things.
We have to carefully take into consideration
the issues and have arguments. Louis
Tapardjuk used to be part of us, and Elijah
Erkloo used to be the Chairman.

Ever since those days, we’ve talked about
this, and let’s try and do it on our own. If we
can’t do it, we’ll give administrative
responsibility to someone else, but we’re Inuit
and we want to use the Inuit way of thinking.
Our elders did their work on our behalf, but
we can do it just as good as the elders did. We
may not be as educated in the Inuit way and
language as they were, but the way things are
today, we try to keep up with developments
that are happening. We still want to be
independent if that’s possible. I will get
Salomonie to add to this.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. When
you finish your comments, just thank the
Chairman so the photographers will know
when to move the camera. Ms. Qitsualik, you
have the floor.

Ms. Qitsualik (interpretation): Thank you.
I’'m from Gjoa Haven, and I’ve been on the
board for three years now, with this being my
fourth year. I’'m happy to be an an Inuk and I
grew up with real traditional Inuit parents. We
didn’t move to Gjoa Haven for a long time, as
I grew up somewhere else.

We relied on animals, and fish, and caribou
and other animals. I grew up eating only those
and [ know my identity as an Inuk, as are my
grandchildren and my great grandchildren.
I’m thinking of them, so, I do this on their
behalf and try to work hard for the Inuktitut
language.
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I’'m glad to be part of this group. Mary
Thompson said earlier that us, in the Inuit
language authority, we will always work hard
on the work that we have to do. During
COVID-19, which stopped our work for a
while, I was even thinking, and I was worried
about the board continuing because we were
not meeting. I will always work hard on
behalf of Inuit, Inuit culture, and also work
hard the way my elders and parents told me
how to keep up. Thank you. Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quqgqiaq.

Mr. Quqqiaq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you for your response.
It is true that we treasure our language,
Inuktitut. (interpretation ends) To date, the
Inuit Uqausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit has had
difficulty in establishing administrative
independence, and the Department of Culture
and Heritage has stepped in to provide the
necessary administrative support.

(interpretation) Do you feel that the Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit could better
focus on its important work if its office’s
staffing and administrative functions were
handled by an established system within the
government? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you.
This issue surrounding our office stems from
our previous office space, across from
(interpretation ends) Arctic College
(interpretation) where the facility is, so it was
directly across on the second floor. I wasn’t
even made aware that our offices had been
transferred to that other office.
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It turned out that the new office is quite
spacious, and has all of the resources required,
but the floor was damaged due to water
spillage, and all of the windows suffered rock
damage. It is situated in an area that is quite
empty, compared to our previous site, closer
to the Legislative Assembly, and we were on
the upper floor.

At this time, there have been repairs
undertaken to improve our current office,
however, due to the lack of staff inhabiting the
office, it was rarely occupied. Jonah Kilabuk
would sometimes be all alone in that office,
and he suffers a heart condition that keeps
him from being too mobile.

Now, due to these reasons, our office has not
functioned properly, and it is not properly
insulated, so it gets cold during the winter. We
are expecting this to be resolved soon or
perhaps be moved to a smaller building,
albeit, our board hasn’t discussed this yet.

Nonetheless, in speaking to our staff or to
Jonah Kilabuk, the longest serving employees,
their assessment of the office space deems it
as inadequate and it is no longer comparable
to our previous office space. We may need to
deliberate on our options, or to submit a
request for assistance to improve our office
situation. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Okay,
you’re good. I don’t have any names on my
list. Ms. Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Since 2011, many directors have
been with the Inuit Ugausinginnik
Taiguusiliugtiit. What are the major issues
that you face in your operations? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.
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Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, thank
you. There are many challenges that we face,
but in terms of the Inuktitut language and
culture, although we treasure and value it and
we also provide Inuktitut shows on radio
regarding our language. It is very obvious that
Inuit are speaking mainly English now,
especially since most of the digital software is
all in English and causing Inuit language
deterioration.

There are some applications that do have
Inuktitut fonts, but it is noticeable from
cellphones and computers that the invasion of
English into the Inuktitut language and culture
has increased tremendously. Even with that,
we will work hard towards the Inuit language
and culture as we are still here as elders. I too
want to work harder with others in terms of
keeping the language alive.

The day before yesterday, our board made a
decision to hold a language conference
sometime in December, maybe in a
(interpretation ends) workshop (interpretation)
format, and our ideas on that revolve around
the Inuit perceptions and mental views. This
is what we want to look at, to delve into the
Inuit mentality from time immemorial.

Today, Inuit no longer perceive their
environment like our parents and grandparents
did, especially in my case. I asked an elder
once, in trying to establish a relationship by
asking them how they were doing. They
answered that they were in some discomfort
as that question isn’t an Inuit tradition to ask
about their health.

When I heard that response, it made me
deliberate on our traditional Inuit
communication protocols, the way Inuit used
to respond, Inuit experiences ought to be
included in this linguistic approach, even
though it may be more difficult, we have
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made this a priority to work on, the way our
writing ability in Inuktitut, and also in roman
orthography.

What we find is, with our students primarily
receiving schooling in English, we wanted a
more traditional method of teaching in the
Inuit mentality and outlook, so that our
students can eventually become the future
leaders, with the right Inuit perspectives and
outlook. This is what we have expected for
many years, especially when facing these
difficult challenges on the retention of our
language.

We hope that eventually in Nunavut, that we
will create a university based only on the Inuit
world view and knowledge base to teach our
students both the culture and language in
order to ensure that we have an Arctic College
style facility staffed by elders, and even with
our current college system, we hope to see an
Inuit education facility sometime down the
road.

This is one of the ideas we bandy around,
which we elders wish to see, but, due to the
many facets or categories that must be taught
are still not even researched or written down,
and further, as Inuit, we have our own unique
belief system. This is also something I used to
teach others via local radio shows.

I spoke of traditional Inuit beliefs and
methods such as our methods of listening,
pride respect and honouring our elders. We
often have long discussions around being
proud to be an Inuk, that our beloved relatives
should be able to walk with their head high
and to be proud of their elders, so we should
be teaching that. This is one of the most
difficult challenges we have faced. I hope I
answered the question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nutarak.
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Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Ms. Thompson, for
your response. It is a major issue talking about
Inuit language and culture, as we are losing
our language. We talk in Inuktitut and
sometimes we lose our memories.

I keep trying to talk in Inuktitut and of the
need to use our language, and even with just
discussions amongst Inuit, you can sometimes
get confused. Let me move to another
question, based on the written report details. It
is about your proposed revision under

section 16(4) of the Inuit Language Protection
Act, it works to defend and support Inuktitut
and are willing to work with other
organizations, with Inuit, or with educational
institutions related to Inuktitut language.

In terms of working with other organizations,
are you working with other organizations?
(interpretation ends) Are there any such
collaboration projects underway?
Organizations, individuals, or academic
institutions? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, our
desire is to continue our collaboration with
our schools especially, along with the various
boards representing Inuit. This could include
boards that are specifically targeted towards
Inuit.

We have agreed to be fully open, and as a
matter of fact, during our last meeting we had
a discussion which we spoke about yesterday,
that we would want to send out invitations to
specific bodies that can provide support to our
work, perhaps by helping to find expert elders
in the communities who can be part of our
overall resource base.
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We would like to initiate this meeting perhaps
as we approach December, and perhaps it will
become clearer by then. We want to work
with our experts on the Inuit language, our
cultural experts or even by working with the
regional Inuit organizations who we wish to
also welcome.

This would be the first meeting, although in
past years, we have hosted conferences on
languages, funding for language work,
terminology research so we are familiar with
this approach. Currently, sea ice terminology
work is commencing and it is being done in
various communities, along with potential

funding for glossaries in Inuktitut and English

with bilingual speakers, or a letter of support
for funding this work.

We have supported local businesses with the
requirement to have Inuktitut services, and
there’s a lack of Inuktitut services. For
example, we used to see the building
‘Qamutiq,” now it’s Qamutiik. There are
improvements like this that we have worked
on in terms of doing and speaking Inuktitut.
We know, in the airplanes that, you know,
there are no written services in Inuktitut.

These are issues on which we want to work
with you, the language supporters, and those
that work in the Inuktitut culture. There are
many obstacles, but we have continued to be
able to stand and work together.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Qitsualik, if you want to speak.

Ms. Qitsualik (interpretation): Thank you.
The discussion that Mary has been
commenting on, ’'m grateful. We want to
support the communities in the Inuktitut
language support. In our community, I have
seen and have worked as an Inuktitut teacher.

The younger students, up to grade 4 have been
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taught or are supposed to have been taught in
the Inuktitut stream, but they start being
taught in English, and she’s not agreeable to
that. How can we get more support for
teachers to have more direction in the
Inuktitut language teaching? I would like to
understand how we can get support.

We have been speaking, too, in English. It
doesn’t improve the Inuktitut, and the young
people are aware that they start to speak more
English. Those of us, as grandparents, great
grandparents, are not understood anymore,
and we know this. We feel and cry in our
hearts about this. How can we make them
better understand Inuktitut? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Ms. Thompson and
Ms. Qitsualik. Yes, I feel where you’re
coming from. We do not want to lose our
language. This will be my last question. On
page 2 of your submission, it indicates that
it’s very important to work with the youth and
for the youth to work along with the Inuit
language authority. Can you elaborate further
on how you can include the youth in your
work? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you. It
is something that we’ve been talking about for
quite a while. Even yesterday, it was in our
discussions to include the youth, and we’re
looking at youth from 16 and on. We call
ourselves here, even when we’re older. We
also have to remind ourselves that we can
start from age 16 and on.
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We were brought up without leaving our
parents. We learned the language and culture
from our parents, but it’s now a different case
with the youth, not all of them, but some of
them. Especially, I think about the youth and
the children who have not been taught their
language, their culture, and also their writing
system. They’re very capable, and they also
have the right to be provided those types of
programs, and we do have money set aside
specific to youth programs. I can use an
example.

When elders are travelling, they are provided
escorts, and usually, it’s a youth that escorts
the elder. So that would be a good start. The
youth would learn from travelling with an
elder. I’'m not exactly sure how we’re going to
make that work, but we have to include the
youth so that they grow mentally and
physically. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following my list, Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you very much for making
an appearance to the Standing Committee. [
welcome you to the House. I am very pleased
that we are in dialogue using our Inuktitut
language.

I think it was in 2017-2018, in your annual
report, which is the only one in front of me,
and I would like to ask a question on what I
observed in your priorities. You indicated
here, from 2016-2019, and from 2018-2019,
that in your priorities, you indicated that you
had public meetings or meetings with public
entities and interpreters about the usage of the
Inuktitut language and terminology that had
been compiled and entered into the computer
data.

You have been working and having dialogue
with the government departments, including
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the Department Culture and Heritage, the
Department of Health, the Department of
Justice, the Department of the Environment,
local governments, and hamlet councils. You
have been collecting data on specific
terminologies that relate to their department.

Could you give us an update on this program
that you were working on? Is there something
new that came up, or do you need further
assistance from us or from the public? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Earlier on, I indicated that our
board is in an ongoing dialogue about their
priorities and programs that they would like to
see. They are all covered under our annual
report. We didn’t have employees at that time,
but we have been pushing to have programs
be made available.

We do need help to work with administrative
matters, and people who can compile the
information that we gathered. We keep saying
this has to be done, and we need to produce
our annual reports. That is an administrative
matter, and it is the only way that we can get
funding through the government budget cycle.
We need administrative help and get the
proper support to make sure that all materials
are produced. We now have an executive
director, and our first priority is the
production of the annual report. There are
other administrative matters that we have to
deal with, following the government budget
cycle. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Ms. Thompson. From
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your response, [ would like to hear what
responses you got from those departments,
entities, and other agencies that you had
dialogue with. For example, you indicated to
the government that you require
administrative assistance and for other matters
such as the production of annual reports.
What response did you get from those
entities? That’s my question, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, we have
different personalities, and there are different
responses you get from different departments
and entities. We have had responses in some
part, and we’ve had responses from the Inuit
organizations, from in Inuit working for the
government who are bilingual, and from those
working outside of the government. If they
can write in Inuktitut and speak in Inuktitut,
then there will be a bonus to cover that extra
service.

We’ve also initiated the setup of a database,
which we’ve been working very hard to get
started. As elders, we talk, but because we
don’t have a secretary, it doesn’t get noted.
We would like to start a database so that it
would be in written form, and we also want to
setup a terminology list, produce it, and make
it available to anyone who wants it. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for that explanation. We
feel for the elders. We would like for you to
be provided proper service by the government
and by other entities. The government can
decide whether they would like to provide
support or not. What was the response from
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the Nunavut government when you asked for
their assistance? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. As elders, we are always
welcomed anywhere. A lot of our work halted
when COVID-19 came around. That’s part of
the delay as well as the lack of resources at
the administrative level. Elijah Erkloo was the
chairperson of the Inuit language authority
around the late 80s and 90s, and he was
always complaining about the administrative
portion of our organization. He couldn’t move
here because there was no housing available,
and his term was too short.

I’m the chairperson currently. The ending of
the term also causes delays in some of the
programs and other services that we would
like to see, including addressing the lack of
housing. I want to say, “thank you” some
more because we’re always welcome
everywhere, and we’ve never been asked to
leave, as elders. No wonder you have all
heard from your elders on how do to things
properly. I am grateful for that, and I know
that this will continue because the Inuit way
of thinking will always be around. We will
always talk about the way Inuit are. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for saying what you
said. We don’t have the same dialect, but I
completely understand you, and I can talk to
you in my dialect, and you’re talking to me in
your dialect. I’'m very happy about that. I feel
like I’m in the proper place, and with a person
like you in front of us.
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Lester Landau did an audit on your
workplace, and I like some of the comments
that they made. They did the investigation,
and they did the audit of the work that you
did. Reading the letter from the accountants,
they talked about the work that you do as the
Inuit language authority, and your finances
were approved.

The expenditures and revenue were all
reviewed, and the auditor wrote about them.
The fact that it has been a strong standing
organization, the way that the auditor wrote
about it, the people who did the investigation
in Iqaluit, January 31, 2020. It states your
previous budgets, and the audits in reading
them go back to 2018 listing expenditures of
$2.1 million for your employees, temporary
staff, travel expenses like tickets and
accommodations as well as office expenses.
Up to now, has this budget remained at this
level, where is it now? Perhaps I am asking
this question prematurely.

I know you have a proper finance person now.
There are so many details inside that I’d like
to understand, and that’s why I’m asking this
question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you.
Yes, like I stated earlier, as board members,
we are not accountants, and we’re not
secretaries. We’ve done as much as we can,
and in the past, when the organization was
running better, we hardly ever had any
surpluses. We had a proper coordinator at that
time, and we’ve had good coordinators twice.
We have been properly staffed twice.

Whenever we showed our work to the
auditors, we got support from them. They tell
us; if you did it this way, it’ll be better, and if
you did it that way, you’ll be in a stronger
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financial position. These are outlined in the
management letters, but it is very difficult
right now compared to previous years. The
reason is, due to the fact we had no one in
financial administration for many years.

At this time, we finally got an employee
identified, and that person just started in their
position, although we have a person who did
the financial accounting, we must ensure they
work with the new employee, so we will be
looking at the auditor we usually use, but
mainly just for support as we really need help
in this area.

The finance person will need support as well
from the auditors that investigate our finances
every year. Whenever we ask for funding, we
have to rely on educated people like that to
make proposals. So I believe, along with the
financial person’s help, that we can put
together our group again properly. I hope I'm
being clear. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for explaining that
further. There are three languages that are in
the Act, and we’ve been dealing with them
since yesterday. We had visits yesterday with
witnesses in front of us, and also this
morning, we had witnesses, all discussing and
talking about the Official Languages Act.

Looking at the work that you do, and we’re
starting to understand more and more. I’ve
never worked with the Inuit language
authority before. I’ve never spoken to anyone
in the Inuit language authority, although I
have heard of your work.

When this was being audited, as we know that
everything runs better with money, with
everything accounted for on paper. As you
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stated earlier, even an ordinary Inuk or a
traditional Inuk, you need to have financial
administrators, and you understood that, and
people who have been educated in financial
administration are being included in your
organization

However, with finances, you are now an
independent organization with a finance
comptroller and a financial coordinator.
Looking at the things that are progressing: is
the budget you are provided annually
inadequate now? That is my question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you.
Actually, for items needing terminology such
as illnesses or diseases like COVID, having a
lack of staff, and not really having a proper
office, those have been our barriers. They
have been a hindrance to our progression.

They can’t be fixed right away in some cases,
so | have told fellow board members that if
we follow this properly and follow what the
auditor told us to do and concentrate more on
that and we will not lose funding. We all
know that, and it is what we want to do. It is
always better not to have a surplus and we
have been told by the auditor that if we use
these finances properly then there won’t be
any cutbacks.

That is what the auditor has been telling us.
Not intentionally, but we have not used all of
our funding. We expect that we will add more
board members if the people who are
interested are appointed. We are hiring more
staff, and we are quite happy. We have
expectations that we can do it. We believe
will keeping getting funded by the federal
government as well as the Nunavut
government.
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Using proper communications, the Inuit
language authority board and our staff must
do proper reporting and complete the annual
reports properly. Every document that is
produced and finished is a great feeling to
finish something. We want to keep on doing
that with our government and our leaders and
happily work with them. It may be slow and
might take time but be all aware that we will
not let it go. Sometimes money becomes a
difficulty and when we get to those occasions,
we will communicate with our leaders. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Those are very strong words, and
the people of Nunavut can hear you.

We would like everything set up on behalf of
the Inuit language. Now with your group, |
would like to hear, while you are here, and
ask you about our elders who are dying off,
and about language in the home, community,
and in our lives that has been dropping and we
have become worried. Do you have any
concern that we might lose our language?
That is my last question. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, it is
very painful to hear that. We find it very
painful in our meetings when we hear about
the language being lost. We have to do more,
and we need more of this and that, and we
repeatedly say that. We will keep pushing for
them. We are not hopeless. We have help
available. We have good help available. There
are people available in Nunavut who can help
us properly.
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We are not so confident in the federal
government because if they could give us a
little more authority with the Inuktitut
language or if they got rid of some of the
barriers, it would help. You have seen the
improvements in our organization. We want
to work with others on this. We expect that
when we are gone, that there will be a proper
education system to comprehend and write
Inuktitut to support the work of the schools.
As the language authority, we have worked
with the schools and have asked that the
students are taught properly in Inuktitut.

Those that don’t go to school can be taught
leadership skills like all of us. It is an
ambitious project for work but the only thing
we don’t know is how the federal government
will be supportive or will they diminish some
of our rights. We have to keep pursuing and
the current situation seems good right now.
Have | answered your question? Perhaps my
fellow board member could answer. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Qitsualik, do you want to speak?

Ms. Qitsualik (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | want to say that our
Chairperson has very clear thoughts on this,
and | support the work being done on the
Inuktitut language. We now have a finance
person and the directorships have been filled.
We have been only four annually. The
appointment of other directors will help
improve the operations of the language
authority.

We have had partial board meetings, and it is
difficult to function that way. It is better when
we have a full board to carry the workload.
This is the first time we are here, and | know
people will better understand us. | am glad
that we are able to sit in front of you. | have
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never been in the legislature before and I was
quite apprehensive, but you are very
welcoming, and | am grateful for that. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following my list of names. Mr. Malliki:

Mr. Malliki (interpretation): Thank you Mr.
Chairman and thank you for your responses.
They were quite understandable. We too,
working on the government side, want to
support you. In terms of having staffing
problems with the Department of Culture and
Heritage supporting you by providing
personnel to your organization. My question
is: are you working with the department or
going through difficult times right now?

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. We went through a hard time
and got support for the Department of Culture
and Heritage. We can function on our own
with the reports through the board on financial
matters and can deal with that as a board.
From other organizations and Inuit, we have
been supported to carry out the work we are
doing.

When we go to communities, we have a lot of
support as elders. The respect of elders is very
much alive, and speaking with elders is very
much alive. We want to enhance this, which is
something that we have been thinking about
and wanting to proceed with. Our staff
requires benefits, and we don’t provide much
support. That is one area that we have
problems with. If we can retain our staff with
adequate salaries and housing as well, we
would be in a better position with our staffing
issues. If it is contractual, there are end dates
and the staff member would have to look for
other employment, even though they may be

74



very talented, yet employed elsewhere,
leaving us with no finance staff.

We have to look at our staff in terms of
longer-term funding and similar requirements
to what they have within the government,
which has had many employees that are even
able to speak Inuktitut. In terms of Inuit
Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit, if our salaries
were matching the market, I think we could
function better.

We did receive support from the Department
of Culture and Heritage and from the
government as well. We expect that we will
work together. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. | have
no more names on my list. Questions? Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for the level of detail in the
responses that have been provided. Yesterday,
we had the Languages Commissioner here
and she had concerns on the length of time it
was taken to get responses on some of the
work that needs to be done. One of the
suggestions she had was to be able to contract
some of the work that your organization does.
Before I get too deep down that hole, I’d just
like to get an opinion whether you think that
that is an achievable thing that can be done to
contract some of your work out. Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, let me
just respond to that. With respect to the
financial reporting contract work, we are
unaware of the need for that, although we hire
temporary workers in the interim period.
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To use this example, they compile the
terminological terms for all different types of
sea ice, or even granular or types of rocks, or
even terrestrial mammals, so both the proper
title and nicknames are included, along with
endearment terms and kinship terms, terms
such as that are dealt with through
(interpretation ends) contracts (interpretation)
to work on the actual terms.

This will most likely continue as an
organizational practice, in hiring temporary
workers to work on specific details, as we
have no way to sidestep this work. It will have
to continue, but what | was speaking to was
our actual employees, both our executive
leadership and workers should be permanently
hired, and not a contracted employee.

This would allow them to be paid at a
representative pay scale, but currently this
contract work for temporary projects will
remain needed as it assists us to produce more
terminology and not depend entirely on one
person who would get burnt out.

We will continue to search for temporary
contracts based on the needs cropping up
among our operations, such as our much-
delayed annual reports, as it is called in
English, and we may end up having to
contract that work as well, and we are not in
denial or conflict with this operational style,
nonetheless, we are requesting that our
employees be paid fairly in their roles as we
want to retain them in the future. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you. And that leads to my next
question, as it has been said that, and you
acknowledged that there has been delays in
the language assessments, there’s been delays
in creating some of the newer terminology,
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some delays in the reporting, the annual
reports.

I’d like to get an opinion from the chair: what
is the priority of the language authority right
now? Out of those three topics specifically, on
the annual reports getting up to date, the
language assessments for Government of
Nunavut staff, and the terminology work that
needs to be completed as well. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, we have
held ongoing discussions on our priorities, on
what needs to be prepared for the operational
priorities of our organizations, so we have had
ongoing discussions on the best way forward
when we meet as a board.

This indeed, was the cause of our
misunderstanding as older persons, that we
were required to produce the annual report on
schedule. It is not too long, and it should be
doable within a scheduled time, and this now
comprises our first priority.

Another listed priority is the need for
excellent communications and a common
understanding with our organization
employees or agencies we have a relationship
with. We just need to work together in
partnership amongst the parties to finish the
work for that report, as it is not impossible.

The Inuit Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit will
still be required, and we anticipate more
additions. We will also start to schedule our
needs for the operational challenges our office
faces, and we will look for other terms that
ought to be reviewed which are listed in our
business plans.
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We want to ensure a smoother operation and
to develop a digital version that can compile
the terminology developed and submitted,
from the Kitikmeot, Kivallig and the
Qikigtaaluk regions. Obviously, it may fall
ultimately short as there are sometimes
disagreements between regions when looking
at new terminology. Agreeing to a specific
term sometimes is an issue, and this requires
more deliberation on terms such as Minister.

What new terminology will we adopt for that
role? Let’s say the new title for the Minister
of Education, or the Minister of Finance and
what nomenclature will we replace that with
in Inuktut that denotes the high role of the
position? Issues such as these are what we
deal with.

The need to search for more terminology
seems to show the central importance of a
database where we can insert the terms for
everyone to be able to use, so that is very
important equipment we need to plan for, and
to tabulate all the terms in various dialects.
Yes, we may run into issues, as an example,
the Inuit Ugausinginnik Taiguusiliugtiit may
be viewed as choosing the wrong term.

Almost like there was no common grounds for
agreement when Nunavut’s territorial flag was
arbitrarily chosen, which we now all use
today. Nonetheless, everyone has accepted
that flag today, and it is now in public use and
we can all recognize it anywhere, and it is
even now used as an emblem on clothing and
parkas.

Much like that, we may be in disagreement at
the beginning, but upon careful deliberations,
the word would be acknowledged by many
people, and yet we still have many new
technological creations that Inuit use now,
which do not have an Inuktitut word for it.
This is part of the reasoning for prioritizing
the website for our body. Thank you.

78



Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Hickes.

Mr. Hickes: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Thompson. You’d also
mentioned working with other partners and
other organizations and it leads me to my next
question. When we look at the relationship
with Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, or ITK, which
also has some obligations on standardizing
Inuktitut, what type of relationship, or what
type of assistance have they been able to
provide? Or what assistance have you been
able to provide to help Inuit on a national
level? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, thank
you. This language is quite varied, and to use
it as a reason, we will continue to make it a
priority, and further, there are many other
abilities we have, which makes this more of a
happy circumstance in terms of our
relationships, much like your own positions
that also have powerful roles.

By using that ability, we deliberated on how
to develop this working relationship within
the area of language standardization, with a
committee struck to deal with terminology,
and that is with Inuit Tapiriit. We have met
with that committee in the past, and | have
also worked on certain projects, but mostly
temporarily.

These areas within language development are
very important, and we will continue to
maintain it’s primacy but, there are other
matters to think of. For instance, expectations.
It has been many years now since Inuktut
started getting lost, and we are seeing dipping
numbers so we expect smaller numbers. We
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are aware of these issues, how to put this into
words.

We know of this issue, but our body has
maintained that with our language rights, and
with the federal and territorial governments
agreeing to keep our body running, we will
keep doing our job. We will not stop due to
the loss of our fluent speakers, as our past
elders requested us to be proud of our
language. Pride in one’s uniqueness. We will
not quit, and we know it may end up missing
some terms, and it will sometimes seem
impossible, or difficult.

However, me and my fellow board members
have spent hours deliberating on these issues,
and we will not stop our work and there are
still other bodies who can assist us. Thank
you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. | have
no more names on my list. | believe we have
completed our questioning, and | am glad that
our witnesses had the time to respond to your
questions which were understood by all. Now,
I would ask if Ms. Thompson can begin here
closing remarks, but I want to do a special
thing here.

You are all elders, and have travelled from
long distances to come here, and Ms.
Thompson, you can start with your closing
comments, and Ms. Qitsualik will also add her
remarks. So, please, if you would like to make
your closing comments, Ms. Thompson.

Ms. Thompson (interpretation): Yes, thank
you. In being asked to come, we were a bit
trepid being older people, and my partner and
I placed ourselves in that corner however, we
did not anticipate the warm welcome we
would receive here.

We are grateful for this, and obviously, you
know the Inuit ways of welcoming, so we are
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feeling very welcomed here. We are now
feeling right at home. Also, we want to
continue our collaboration on terminology
with the MLAs, the department and the
various offices.

We are aware that many elders are passing
and that our numbers are dwindling, but there
are more Inuit also reaching that age and
becoming elders, much like us, and you. We
will see more people reaching that elderly
age, albeit in lesser numbers. There will
remain elders even then, | have no regrets in
making this statement.

We do not feel this, and further, we will
continue to support you all with all of our
abilities, as we need to preserve the Inuit
culture and language through your good
offices and roles. Thank you.

>>Applause

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. We
also have Ms. Qitsualik who also wanted to
make closing comments. Ms. Qitsualik.

Ms. Qitsualik (interpretation): My turn? Yes.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. | am very pleased,
as | recall my childhood as I started
remembering things and meeting fellow Inuit
for the very first time from the Baffin region,
Kivalliq region and the Western Arctic, |
could not understand even a single word.

I could not even guess what they were trying
to say either. In this day and age, | am very
grateful that Inuit from the Netsilik, the
Baffin, the Kivallig, the Western Arctic can
now understand each other today. Once |
learned that, | became very appreciative of
this fact as Inuit everywhere.

My late father told stories of traditional
knowledge held by Inuit, and I had not
fathomed ever seeing the situation today that
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we are living in. My father used to predict that
Inuit would become very numerous, and start
to understand one another. | used to hear him
say those things and | always had a little
doubt that it would ever pass.

The truth as it turned out. It came to pass
while I was still among the living, and | recall
my childhood, my old traditions as becoming
strange, and | am now able to travel south,
and | appreciate all of these things. | did not
imagine that some of the practices in our past
would also become alien to us.

I now live in a house, and during my
childhood, I only used to wear caribou
clothing, and ate only the flesh of animals we
caught, and those were among my first
memories. My grandchildren are so vastly
different now from my great-grandparents,
and they do not want to eat the food that | eat
as they are conditioned to eat mostly store-
bought items from the south.

I do love them, and want them to continue
eating their traditional foods, and this is one
area of my culture and lifestyle | am trying
really hard to retain. | thank you all.

>>Applause

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. | also
am glad we were able to meet here, and the
public was able to witness the hearings on
television here in Nunavut. Now, this meeting
IS now adjourned. Tomorrow morning at 9
a.m., we will commence the final meeting
scheduled, and the Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated will be here tomorrow to make a
presentation.

We are stopping here and | hope everyone has
a great day today.

>>Committee adjourned at 14:54
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